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PURPOSE, SCOPE AND AUTHORITY


Purpose
Starving Students, Inc. (Starving Students) holds common carrier authority within the state of Washington, including the transportation of household goods. The purpose of this investigation is to determine the company’s compliance with Washington state laws and Washington Utilities and Transportation Commission rules. 

Scope
The scope of this investigation focuses on Starving Students’ intrastate transportation of household goods in Washington state from June 1 through Aug. 31, 2013, and the company’s compliance with state laws and commission rules during that period.

Authority
Staff conducts this investigation pursuant to Revised Code of Washington (RCW) 81.04.070, RCW 81.80.130, and RCW 81.80.330. Washington Administrative Code (WAC) 480-15-010 describes the commission’s authority to regulate companies that transport household goods within the state of Washington.  

Staff
Darren Tinnerstet, Compliance Investigator
(360) 664-1108
dtinnerstet@utc.wa.gov


EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

On Dec. 13, 2013, commission staff initiated an investigation into Starving Students’ overall business practices. 

Staff reviewed 651 moves conducted by Starving Students between June 1 and Aug. 31, 2013. The documents reviewed included estimates, bills of lading, tables of measurements (cube sheets), and receipts for customer payment transactions. Staff also reviewed claims filed against the company during the review period. 

Based on its review, staff finds that Starving Students violated commission rules and Household Goods Tariff 15-C in a number of areas, as follows:

· Failure to provide written estimates in violation of WAC 480-15-630 and Tariff 15-C, Item 85.
· Failure to properly complete estimate forms in violation of WAC 480-15-630(7) and Tariff 15-C, Item 85.
· Failure to obtain the company and/or customer’s signature and date on the estimate in violation of WAC 480-15-630(8) and Tariff 15-C, Item 85(2)(s).
· Failure to provide supplemental estimates in violation of WAC 480-15-630(3) and Tariff 15-C, Item 85(3).  
· Failure to follow the terms, conditions, and rates imposed by Tariff 15-C in violation of WAC 480-15-490(3) 
· Failure to properly complete the bill of lading form in violation of   WAC 480-15-710(3) and Tariff 15-C, Item 95.
· Failure to maintain weight tickets on long distance moves in violation of WAC 480-15-710 and Tariff 15-C, Item 115(5).
· Failure to accurately document long distance calculations in violation of WAC 480-15-710 and Tariff 15-C, Item 95(1)(L)(ii). 
· Failure to document breaks or interruptions by company employees in violation of WAC 480-15-490(3) and Tariff 15-C, Item 230(2). 

Staff also finds that Starving Students violated RCW 81.80.132 for actual charges exceeding the rates allowed by commission rule and Tariff 15-C. These violations resulted in overcharges to 62 customers totaling $8,273.22. Staff also determined that Starving Students failed to document breaks or interruptions by company employees, which resulted in overcharges to 61 customers totaling $3,016.46.








 Recommendation
Staff recommends the commission issue a formal complaint against Starving Students and assess a total penalty of $7,300 for the following violations:

· $100 for each category of violations of WAC 480-15-630 and Tariff 15-C, Item 85, for failure to properly complete written estimates, for a total penalty of $400.
· $100 for each category of violations of WAC 480-15-710 and Tariff 15-C, Item 95, for failure to properly complete bills of lading , for a total penalty of $500. 
· $100 for each violation of RCW 81.80.132, for charging in excess of commission-allowed percentages, for a total penalty of $6,200.
· $100 for each category of violations of WAC 480-15-710, Tariff 15-C, Item 115(5), and Item 95(1)(l)(ii) for failure to maintain weight tickets and accurately document long distance moves, for a total penalty of $100. 
· $100 for each category of violations of WAC 480-15-490(3) and Tariff 15-C, Item 230(2), for failure to record breaks and interruptions of employees, for a total penalty of $100. 

Additionally, staff recommends the commission order the company to remit to affected customers a total refund of $11,289.68 for the following violations:

· $2,953.27 for excess charges to customers issued binding and non-binding estimates in violation of RCW 81.80.132;
· $5,319.95 for excess charges to customers issued nonbinding estimates in violation of RCW 81.80.132; and
· $3,016.46 for excess charges to customers for breaks or interruptions in violation of WAC 480-15-490(3) and Tariff 15-C, Item 230(2).

A discussion of staff’s recommendations appears at the end of this report.



BACKGROUND

Company Information
Starving Students, Inc. is a limited liability corporation located at 1850 Sawtelle Blvd. Suite 300, Los Angeles, CA 90025. Ethan Margalith is the Chief Executive Officer of the company. The company’s annual report states that Jean Fria, Vice President of Finance, is the responsible account officer.

Starving Students operates 33 terminal locations in nine states. They have two terminal locations in the state of Washington: 3718 S. Tacoma Way, Tacoma, WA 98409; and 624 South Lander Street, Unit 60-A, Seattle, WA 98134.

According to commission records, Starving Students has held common carrier authority with the commission since 1986, originally doing business as Starving Students of Seattle, Inc.  On Jan. 15, 1999, the company’s common carrier permit was automatically transferred to permanent household goods authority, permit number HG-041035, in Docket No. TV-971477

As reflected in its annual reports filed with the commission, Starving Students reported the following intrastate revenue for the past three years:

	Reporting Year
	Date Filed
	Revenue
	# of Moves

	2012
	May 3, 2013
	$1,141,276
	2,146

	2011
	May 4, 2012
	$1,003,296
	2,222

	2010
	May 23, 2011
	$1,067,180
	2,600



Household Goods Carrier Training
In 2008, the commission made significant changes to the way household goods carriers are required to provide services and bill their customers in both the rules and the tariff. 
To assist permitted companies with understanding and implementing these changes, the commission began providing rule and tariff training sessions for all interested parties. The commission continues to provide this training to permitted companies, as well as new entrants, on a quarterly basis. 

The day-long household goods carrier training provides each attendee with important technical assistance. The training covers every topic in Washington Administrative Code 480-15 and Tariff 15-C; as well as, the state and federal rules and statutes related to transportation safety. Each attendee is provided with copies of the rules, statutes, tariff, and safety manual. They are also provided with a Training Verification Form. At the beginning of the training, attendees are provided with the instruction that on that form they must initial the line next to each subject addressed in the training to attest that they know, understand and will implement each item – and will ensure that their employees do the same. 


Attendees are also instructed that the training is considered technical assistance and that subsequent violations of rules, statute or tariff may result in enforcement action, including penalties and/or cancellation of a permit. They are further instructed that they should not sign off on any topic that they do not understand and to seek additional instruction or guidance if needed. At the end of each training, the attendees turn in the form. Commission staff scan the forms and add the document to the commission’s SharePoint database. The attendee’s name is also added to a master list of those who have attended the training. 

Starving Students had four employees attend the September 16, 2009 training class, and three employees attend the April 26, 2011 class.[footnoteRef:1] [1:  See Appendix A for signed Verification of Training Received records for Starving Students] 


























INVESTIGATION

Data Request
On Dec. 13, 2013, staff requested the following records and information from Starving Students:

1. For every residential move performed within the state of Washington from June 1, 2013, through Aug. 31, 2013, please provide all original supporting documents related to each customer’s move, including, but not limited to, the bill of lading, estimate, supplemental estimate, inventory records, weight slips, and all documents related to temporary storage of the goods. As noted about, the commission requires original documents. Photocopies will not be accepted.

2. A copy of the company’s customer complaint and claims register, listing all complaints and claims received from June 1, 2013, through Aug. 31, 2013, and including all documents related to each complaint and claim.

Staff requested Starving Students respond to the data request no later than Dec. 27, 2013.[footnoteRef:2] On Dec. 27, Starving Students provided documents for 651 jurisdictional moves performed within the state of Washington from June 1 to Aug. 31, 2013. Starving Students also provided a claim register, which listed a total of nine claims filed during the requested period. [2:  See Appendix B for a copy of the Dec. 13, 2013 data request letter.] 


Staff used the documents and information furnished from this data request to conduct its investigation of the company’s business practices.



CONSUMER COMPLAINTS

Since 2000, there have been 51 consumer complaints filed against Starving Students. Seven of those complaints were filed in the last two years, resulting in significant technical assistance in a number of areas. Each of these complaints is discussed in detail, below.

Consumer Complaint 119208
On Nov. 25, 2013, a consumer filed a complaint with the commission against Starving Students (complaint 119208). At the conclusion of the complaint investigation, staff recorded 11 violations of commission rules, and provided technical assistance for each, as follows:

	WAC 480-15-890(1)
2 violations
	Failure to respond timely to a commission referred complaint. 

	WAC 480-15-630(7) / Tariff 15-C, Item 85(2)(g)
2 violations
	Failure to list the cubic footage of each item on the table of measurements.

	WAC 480-15-890(2)
4 violations
	Failure to respond timely to a commission request for clarifying information. 

	WAC 480-15-630(5) / Tariff 15-C, Item 230.4
1 violation
	Company charged the customer for travel time when it had not yet visually inspected the customer’s goods or issued an estimate for the move. 

	WAC 480-15-710(2) 
1 violation
	Company issued two bills of lading for one shipment.

	WAC 480-15-490(3)
1 violation
	Failure to follow terms, conditions, rates and all other requirements imposed by the tariff when it charged the customer in excess of 125 percent of the written non-binding estimate amount. 




Consumer Complaint 118831
On Oct. 3, 2013, a consumer filed a complaint with the commission against Starving Students (complaint 118831). At the conclusion of the complaint investigation, staff recorded six violations of commission rules, and provided technical assistance for each, as follows:

	WAC 480-15-890(4)(a)
3 violations
	Failure to resolve claim within 90 days. Company did not, for each thirty-day period until claim was settled, inform customer in writing of the reason it failed to resolve the claim or state its final offer or denial of claim. 

	WAC 480-15-710(3) / Tariff 15-C, Item 95(1)
2 violations
	Failure to obtain dates from customer on bill of lading of when goods were released and received. 

	WAC 480-15-630(7) / Tariff 15-C, Item 85(2)(g)
1 violation
	Failure to list the cubic footage of each item on the table of measurements.




Consumer Complaint 113999
On May 22, 2012, a consumer filed a complaint with the commission against Starving Students (complaint 113999). At the conclusion of the complaint investigation, staff recorded seven violations of commission rules, and provided technical assistance for each, as follows:

	WAC 480-15-890(1)
1 violation
	Failure to respond timely to a commission referred complaint.

	WAC 480-15-630(7) / Tariff 15-C, Item 85(2)(d)
1 violation
	Failure to obtain customer’s phone number on estimate. 

	WAC 480-15-630(7) / Tariff 15-C, Item 85(2)(g)
1 violation
	Failure to list the cubic footage of each item on the table of measurements.

	WAC 480-15-710(3) / Tariff 15-C, Item 95.1(a)
2 violations 
	Company’s name and website were not provided on bill of lading form. 

	WAC 480-15-710(3) / Tariff 15-C, Item 95.1(m)
1 violation
	Failure to document employees’ 30 minute lunch period on the bill of lading. 

	WAC 480-15-710(3) / Tariff 15-C, Item 95.1(n)
1 violation
	Failure to describe in sufficient detail on the bill of lading that the proper rate was charged. Bill of lading indicated 10.75 hours worked but only 9.75 hours were billed without explanation for the one hour reduction. 




Consumer Complaint 115342
On Sept. 17, 2012, a consumer filed a complaint with the commission against Starving Students (complaint 115342). At the conclusion of the complaint investigation, staff recorded one violation of commission rules, and provided technical assistance, as follows:

	WAC 480-15-630(7) / Tariff 15-C, Item 85(2)(h)
1 violation
	Failure to properly estimate total weight of long distance shipment. Written estimate was calculated on 12,000 pounds, although table of measurements form indicated the estimated weight of the customer’s goods was 20,586 pounds. 














Consumer Complaint 115516
On Oct. 3, 2012, a consumer filed a complaint with the commission against Starving Students (complaint 115516). At the conclusion of the complaint investigation, staff recorded 12 violations of commission rules, and provided technical assistance for each, as follows:

	WAC 480-15-630(7) / Tariff 15-C, Item 85(2)(d)
1 violation
	Failure to obtain customer’s phone number on estimate. 

	WAC 480-15-710(3) / Tariff 15-C, Item 95.1(a)
1 violation 
	Company’s name and website were not provided on bill of lading form. 

	WAC 480-15-710(3) / Tariff 15-C, Item 95.2
1 violation
	Failure to list the current and accurate terms and conditions on the back of the bill of lading. Section 6 did not list correct language. 

	WAC 480-15-630(7) / Tariff 15-C, Item 85(2)(g)
1 violation
	Failure to list the cubic footage of each item on the table of measurements.

	WAC 480-15-610(1)
6 violations
	Failure to include company’s physical address and telephone number on inventory sheet, “Understanding Your Move” guide, and claim form.  

	WAC 480-15-490(3) / Tariff 15-C, Item 230(2)
1 violation
	Failure to accurately bill travel time.

	WAC 480-15-810(1)
1 violation
	Failure to provide a written response to customer within ten business days acknowledging customer’s complaint. 





Consumer Complaint 118828
On Oct. 3, 2013, a consumer filed a complaint with the commission against Starving Students (complaint 118828). At the conclusion of the complaint investigation, staff recorded three violations of commission rules, and provided technical assistance for each, as follows:

	WAC 480-15-890(4)(a)
3 violations
	Failure to resolve claim within 90 days. Company did not, for each thirty-day period until claim was settled, inform customer in writing of the reason it failed to resolve the claim or state its final offer or denial of claim. 











Consumer Complaint 116369
On Jan. 11, 2013, a consumer filed a complaint with the commission against Starving Students (complaint 116639). At the conclusion of the complaint investigation, staff recorded 10 violations of commission rules, and provided technical assistance for each, as follows:

	WAC 480-15-630  / Tariff 15-C, Item 80(1)
1 violation
	Company did not specify the method of payment on the estimate. 

	WAC 480-15-630 / Tariff 15-C, Item 85(2)(r)
1 violation
	Estimate did not include all of the forms of payment that the company will accept.  

	WAC 480-15-660(3) / Tariff 15-C, Item 83(3)(b)
1 violation
	Failure to complete the supplemental estimate as required by tariff. The supplemental estimate did not contain the customer’s phone number 

	WAC 480-15-630 / Tariff 15-C, Item 85(2)(g)
1 violation
	Company did not complete a table of measurements (cube sheet inventory). 

	WAC 480-15-660(1) 
1 violation
	Company improperly issued a supplemental estimate. The circumstances surrounding the move did not change in any way to cause the rates or charges to increase. 

	WAC 480-15-710(3) / Tariff 15-C, Item 95.1(a)
1 violation 
	Company’s website was not provided on bill of lading form. 

	WAC 480-15-710(3) / Tariff 15-C, Item 95(4)(d)
1 violation
	Company failed to include the information in a bill of lading as described in the commission's tariff. The bill of lading did contain the required language. 

	WAC 480-15-710(3) / Tariff 15-C, Item 95(6)
1 violation
	Company failed to include the information in a bill of lading as described in the commission's tariff. The bill of lading did not contain the required language.

	WAC 480-15-610(1)
1 violation
	Company failed to include the required information in the consumer brochure. Brochure did not include company’s physical address or telephone number. 

	WAC 480-15-630(5) / Tariff 15-C, Item 230(4)
1 violation
	Company charged the customer for travel time when it had not yet visually inspected the customer’s goods or issued an estimate for the move. 





ESTIMATES – COMPLETION

Investigation 
WAC 480-15-630 requires a household goods moving company to provide a written estimate to every customer before the move occurs. An estimate is a written approximation of the cost of a move prepared in compliance with the provisions of the household goods rules and Tariff 15-C. Estimates are based on factors such as the size of the shipment, the weight of the household goods, the amount of time needed to complete the move, and the type of special services to be provided. A household goods company may provide customers with either a binding or non-binding estimate.

WAC 480-15-630(7) requires moving companies to complete the estimates as required by Tariff 15-C, Item 85. This includes documenting customer contact information, calculating estimated local and long distance charges,  and obtaining customer preference for type of estimate and valuation. Furthermore, WAC 480-15-630(8) states that “all written estimates must be signed and dated by both the carrier and customer prior to the move.” 

Staff reviewed documents for 651 moves completed by Starving Students between June and August 2013. Staff found the following violations of WAC 480-15-630 and Tariff 15-C, Item 85:

	Description
	Tariff 15-C
	WAC
	Violations

	Failure to obtain signature acknowledging receipt of “Guide to Moving” brochure
	85(2)(c)
	480-15-630(7)
	23

	Failure to provide estimate
	85(1)
	480-15-630
	40

	Incomplete customer contact information
	85(2)(d)
	480-15-630(7)
	16

	Failure to document origin or destination of shipment
	85(2)(f)
	480-15-630(7)
	39

	Failure to calculate local and long distance charges
	85(2)(i,j)
	480-15-630(7)
	79

	No valuation selection
	85(2)(m)
	480-15-630(7)
	10

	No binding or non-binding selection
	85(2)(p,q)
	480-15-630(7)
	22

	Failure to obtain signatures and dates of carrier personnel and/or customer 
	85(2)(s)
	480-15-630(8)
	63



Supplemental Estimates
WAC 480-15-630(3) requires household goods carriers to issue a supplemental estimate “if the circumstances surrounding the move change in any way to cause the rates or charges to increase.” WAC 480-15-630(2) states that, “the customer is not required to pay more than 125 percent of the estimate regardless of the cost unless the carrier issues and the customer accepts a supplemental estimate.” 

Staff discovered 62 customers who were not provided supplemental estimates when their charges exceeded the original estimate, which violates WAC 480-15-630(3).[footnoteRef:3] [3:  See Appendices C & D for a list of customers who were not provided supplemental estimates. ] 


Staff also discovered that several estimates were apparently altered by Starving Students’ employees. In one example, a move for customer Scott on June 26, 2013, the original quote of $399.95 was crossed out on the estimate form and the amount actually charged, $639.92, was inserted.[footnoteRef:4] [4:  See Appendix E for a copy of June 26, 2013, move documents for customer Scott.] 


Previous Technical Assistance
Starving Students has previously received technical assistance related to the proper completion of estimates prior to moves, via previous consumer complaints and the commission’s household goods training.  

Findings
Staff finds that Starving Students failed to properly complete estimates as required by WAC 480-15-630 and Tariff 15-C, Item 85, and finds the following 354 violations:

· 40 violations of WAC 480-15-630 for failure to provide a written estimate to 40 customers prior to the move.
· 189 violations of WAC 480-15-630(7) for failure to complete each of the estimate forms according to the requirements of Tariff 15-C, specifically Item 85(2)(c), Item 85(2)(d), Item 85(2)(f), Item 85(2)(i) and (j), Item 85(2)(m), and Item 85(2)(p) and (q). 
· 63 violations of WAC 480-15-630(8) and Tariff 15-C, Item 85(2)(s) for failure to obtain the company and/or customer’s signature and date on the estimate form for 63 moves. 
· 62 violations of WAC 480-15-630(3) for failure to provide supplemental estimates to 62 customers when the circumstances surrounding the move changed.

Recommendation
Because Starving Students received technical assistance in most of these areas as a result of consumer complaints filed with the commission in 2012 and 2013, staff believes penalties are warranted. Staff believes that citing one violation for each violation category (rather than 354 separate violations) is sufficient. Future violations will result in escalated penalties or other enforcement action. 






Penalty
Staff recommends a $100 penalty for each of the following four categories of violations of WAC 480-15-630, for a total penalty of $400, as follows:

· $100 for failure to supply an estimate to customers prior to moving household goods in violation of WAC 480-15-630 andTariff 15-C, Item 85(1).
· $100 for failure to properly complete each of the estimate forms in violation of WAC 480-15-630(7) and Tariff 15-C, Item 85.
· $100 for failure to obtain the company and/or customer’s signature and date on the estimate form in violation of WAC 480-15-630(8) and Tariff 15-C, Item 85(2)(s). 
· $100 for failure to provide supplemental estimates to customers in violation of WAC 480-15-630(3) and Tariff 15-C, Item 85(3).




























ESTIMATES – BINDING/NON-BINDING

Investigation
WAC 480-15-490(3) requires household goods carriers to follow the rates, terms and conditions authorized by Tariff 15-C. Customers must select between two options when completing an estimate with a household goods moving company. They must choose either a binding estimate or a non-binding estimate. 

Additionally, RCW 81.80.132 states that, “when a common carrier gives an estimate of charges for services in carrying household goods, the carrier will endeavor to accurately reflect the actual charges. The carrier is subject to a monetary penalty not to exceed one thousand dollars per violation when the actual charges exceed the percentages allowed by the commission.” 

Staff reviewed 651 moves completed by Starving Students, and identified overcharges for moves with both binding and non-binding estimates. 

Binding Estimates
Tariff 15-C, Item 85(2)(p), requires that a binding estimate be a guarantee of the cost of the move, and that the carrier will not charge above the estimated charges without preparing a supplemental estimate if the circumstances of the move change. Staff identified 24 customers who received a binding estimate but were charged more than the original binding estimate without being provided a supplemental estimate.[footnoteRef:5]  For example: [5:  See Appendix C for list of customers who were issued binding estimates. ] 


· On July 8, 2013, customer Anderson was issued a binding estimate for $359.96 for a local move from Woodinville, WA to Kirkland, WA.  Ms. Anderson was subsequently charged and paid $674.93 for her move, resulting in an overcharge of $314.97.[footnoteRef:6]  [6:  See Appendix F for a copy of July, 8, 2013, move documents for customer Anderson. ] 


In total, 24 customers were overcharged $2,953.27.

Non-Binding Estimates
Tariff 15-C, Item 85(2)(q)(iv), provides that a customer who receives a non-binding estimate is not required to pay more than 125 percent of the estimate regardless of the total cost unless the carrier issues and the customer accepts a supplemental estimate. Staff found 38 customers who received a non-binding estimate and were charged more than 125 percent of the original estimate without being provided a supplemental estimate.[footnoteRef:7] The following is an example of a customer who was charged more than 125 percent of their non-binding estimate:
 [7:  See Appendix D for a list of customers who were issued non-binding estimates.] 

· On June 1, 2013, customer Watkins was issued a non-binding estimate for $474.95 for a local move in Tacoma, WA. Ms. Watkins was subsequently charged and paid $1,163.62 for the move. The maximum amount allowed was 125 percent of $474.95, or $593.69.  This resulted in an overcharge of $569.93[footnoteRef:8].  [8:  See Appendix G for a copy of June 1, 2013, move documents for customer Watkins. ] 


In total, 38 customers were overcharged $5,319.95.

Previous Technical Assistance
Starving Students received technical assistance regarding charges exceeding 125 percent of non-binding estimates in response to complaint number 119208 filed with the commission on Nov. 25, 2013. This technical assistance was provided after the review period.

Findings
Staff finds that Starving Students failed to follow the rates, terms and conditions of Tariff 15-C as required under WAC 480-15-490(3). Starving Students also violated RCW 81.80.132 when (1) actual charges exceeded the amount allowed by the commission for binding estimates, and (2) actual charges exceeded the percentages allowed by the commission for non-binding estimates.

Staff finds 62 violations of RCW 81.80.132 for the company’s actual charges exceeding the percentages allowed by the commission. 

Recommendation
Staff believes that due to the nature and financial impact of the violations, penalties are warranted. Staff also recommends customer refunds for charges exceeding binding and non-binding estimates according to the schedule set forth in Appendices B and C, totaling $8,273.22 

Penalty
Staff recommends a $100 penalty for each of the 62 violations of RCW 81.80.132, for a total penalty of $6,200.










BILL OF LADING – COMPLETION

Investigation
WAC 480-15-710(2) requires a household goods company to issue a properly completed bill of lading for every move. WAC 480-15-710(3) further requires that the carrier “must include the information in the bill of lading as described in the commission’s tariff.” Tariff 15-C, Item 95, identifies the required elements for all bills of lading.

The bill of lading provides an itemized overview of all of the charges related to a given move, and explains when and how a carrier is required to release a shipment and extend credit. The back of the bill of lading must contain specific language regarding the terms and conditions of the contract. All of this information is required to ensure that consumers are aware of their rights and obligations under the law.

Staff reviewed documents for 651 moves completed by Starving Students during the review period. Staff found the following violations of WAC 480-15-710 and Tariff 15-C, Item 95:

	Description
	Tariff 15-C
	WAC
	Violations

	Failure to obtain signatures and dates of carrier personnel and/or customer
	95(1)
	480-15-710(3)
	139

	Failure to obtain customer phone number
	95(1)(b)
	480-15-710(3)
	50

	Failure to document origin or destination of shipment
	95(1)(e)
	480-15-710(3)
	35

	No binding or non-binding selection
	95(1)(h)
	480-15-710(3)
	97

	No valuation selection
	95(1)(k)
	480-15-710(3)
	62



Previous Technical Assistance
Previous technical assistance has been provided to Starving Students for this category of violations via the commission’s household goods training program. 

Findings
Staff finds that Starving Students failed to properly complete bills of lading as required by WAC 480-15-710(3) and Tariff 15-C, and finds the following 383 violations:

· 139 violations of WAC 480-15-710(3) for failure to obtain the company and/or customer’s signature and date on the bill of lading form for 139 moves.  
· 50 violations of WAC 480-15-710(3) for failure to include the customer’s telephone number on the bill of lading for 50 moves. 
· 35 violations of WAC 480-15-710(3) for failure to document the destination address on the bill of lading for 35 moves.
· 97 violations of WAC 480-15-710(3) for failure to document a binding or non-binding selection on the bill of lading for 97 moves. 
· 62 violations of WAC 480-15-710(3) for failure to document a valuation selection on the bill of lading for 62 moves. 
Recommendation
Due to the high number of violations found involving bills of lading, staff believes that citing one violation for each violation category (rather than 383 separate violations) is sufficient. Future violations will result in escalated penalties or other enforcement action. 

Penalty
Staff recommends a $100 penalty for each of the following five categories of violations of WAC 480-15-710(3), for a total penalty of $500, as follows:

· $100 for failure to obtain the company and/or customer’s signature and date in violation of Tariff 15-C, Item 95(1).
· $100 for failure to include the telephone number of customers in violation of Tariff 15-C, Item 95(1)(b).
· $100 for failure to document the destination address in violation of Tariff 15-C, Item 95(1)(e).
· $100 for failure to document a binding selection in violation of Tariff 15-C, Item 95(1)(h).
· $100 for failure to document a valuation selection in violation of Tariff 15-C, Item 95(1)(k).




BILL OF LADING - LONG DISTANCE MOVES

Investigation
WAC 480-15-710(3) requires that the carrier “must include the information in the bill of lading as described in the commission’s tariff”. Tariff 15-C provides the rates for long distance moves, which are described in Item 105(1) as being those household goods moves “of more than 55 miles.” Charges for long distance moves are calculated based on the mileage and the weight of the shipment.

Of the 651 moves reviewed, staff found that Starving Students failed to comply with the rules associated with long distance moves for 13 different customers, as follows:

1. Providing Weight Tickets
Item 115(5) of Tariff 15-C requires that, “Carriers must maintain all weight tickets or documentation of the calculation of weight with the bill of lading.” Staff found that Starving Students failed to provide documentation of weight tickets in connection with ten moves.  Without proof of the weight of the shipment, staff is unable to determine whether these ten customers were correctly charged. 

2. Calculation of Long Distance Charges
Item 95(1)(L)(ii) of Tariff 15-C requires that the bill of lading include, “the net weight of the shipment, either by constructive or actual weight as evidenced by documentation of the constructive weight calculation or the actual weight ticket.” Staff found that in three moves, Starving Students failed to accurately document the long distance moves, as follows:

· On June 6, 2013, Starving Students completed a move for customer Monroe and calculated charges based on a 7,800 pound shipment. The bill of lading stated the shipment weighed 3,000 pounds, rated at $0.2867 per pound. No calculations were provided on the estimate other than a notation of “3,000 pounds @ 28.67 per pound.” The weight tickets were included and confirmed that the shipment weight was 7,800 pounds. The customer was properly charged according to the actual weight, but the bill of lading was completed incorrectly. 

· On June 16, 2013, Starving Students completed a move for customer Carroll in which the company charged the customer based on a 6,200 pound shipment. The bill of lading stated the shipment weighed 4,000 pounds, rated at $0.32 per pound. No estimate was provided for this move.  The weight tickets were included and confirmed that the shipment weight was 6,200 pounds. The customer was properly charged according to the actual weight, but the bill of lading was completed incorrectly. 
· On Aug. 21, 2013, Starving Students completed a move for customer Dore in which the company charged the customer based on a 3,000 pound shipment.  No weight ticket was included, and the bill of lading did not document any calculation of weight charges. The only notation is the mileage rate of $.032. The estimate was completed for an hourly move. Staff is unable to determine if customer was charged properly due to no weight tickets being provided. 

Previous Technical Assistance
In 2012, Starving Students received technical assistance regarding their failure to properly estimate the total weight of a long distance shipment as a result of consumer complaint 115342. 

Findings
Staff finds that Starving Students violated Tariff 15-C by (1) failing to maintain weight tickets for ten moves, and (2) failing to accurately document long distance calculations on the bills of lading for three moves. 

Recommendations
Staff recommends a penalty of $100 for the violation category, failure to maintain weight tickets and accurately complete long-distance move rate calculations as required by WAC 480-15-710(3) and Tariff 15-C. 




















TARIFF TERMS
Investigation
WAC 480-15-490(3) requires household goods carriers to follow the rates, terms and conditions authorized by Tariff 15-C. For hourly-rated moves, Tariff 15-C, Item 230(2) requires carrier employees to record breaks and interruptions. The customers must not be charged for breaks or interruptions caused by the carrier’s personnel.

Staff reviewed 651 moves that Starving Students performed during the review period. Staff found 61 moves where Starving Students’ employees failed to document breaks taken during moves and the customers were presumably charged for this time.[footnoteRef:9]  An example of this violation of Tariff 15-C, Item 230(2) is as follows: [9:  See Appendix H for a list of customers who were presumably overcharged for break periods. ] 


· On June 19, 2013, Starving Students performed a local move for customer Western. Customer was charged for 16.5 hours of labor between the hours of 10:00 a.m. and 2:30 a.m. No breaks were documented for the duration of the 16.5 hours period and customer Western was charged the full amount for the labor costs.[footnoteRef:10] [10:  See Appendix I for a copy of June 19, 2013, bill of lading for customer Western’s move. ] 



Previous Technical Assistance
Starving Students received technical assistance for not documenting employees’ 30 minute lunch period on the bill of lading as a result of a May 22, 2012, complaint investigation (complaint 113999). The company also received technical assistance on hourly rated moves via the commission’s household goods training program. 

Findings
Because staff assumes that Starving Students’ employees took meal breaks as required by law absent a notation to the contrary, the company failed to record interruption times. When a company does not record interruption time, it increases the cost of the move and the customer is improperly billed.

Staff finds that Starving Students violated WAC 480-15-490(3) and Tariff 15-C, Item 230(2), by failing to document breaks or interruptions by company employees during 61 moves. Staff found that even though Starving Students’ employees worked in excess of five hours straight, there were no meal periods or breaks recorded as interruption time on many of the bills of lading reviewed. Washington State law requires an employer give breaks to employees for any time worked in excess of five hours.[footnoteRef:11]  [11:  Department of Labor and Industries WAC 296-126-092 ; Meal periods -- Rest periods.  “(1) Employees shall be allowed a meal period of at least 30 minutes which commences no less than two hours nor more than five hours from the beginning of the shift. Meal periods shall be on the employer's time when the employee is required by the employer to remain on duty on the premises or at a prescribed work site in the interest of the employer. (2) No employee shall be required to work more than five consecutive hours without a meal period...” [Order 76-15, § 296-126-092, filed 5/17/76.]
] 

Recommendations
Staff recommends a penalty of $100 for the violation category, for failing to document breaks and interruptions as required by WAC 480-15-490(3) and Tariff 15-C, Item 230(2). 

Staff also recommends that, due to the nature and financial impact of these violations, those customers who were overcharged for hours worked should be refunded all overpayments according to the schedule set forth in Appendix G, totaling $3,016.46. 

Penalty
Staff recommends a $100 penalty for the category of violations of WAC 480-15-490(3) and Tariff 15-C, Item 230(2), for a total penalty of $100. 


























RECOMMENDATION

Penalty
In this investigation, staff documented 873 violations of WAC 480-15 and Tariff 15-C.  

Staff typically recommends a “per violation” penalty against a regulated company where the violations result in serious customer harm; for repeat violations of a rule after a company receives technical assistance from staff; or for intentional violations of commission laws or rules. The commission has the authority to assess penalties of $100 per violation, per day against a regulated company without providing the opportunity for a hearing.[footnoteRef:12] The commission also has the authority to assess penalties of up to $1,000 per violation, per day following a formal complaint and hearing.[footnoteRef:13] [12:  RCW 81.04.405 allows the commission to assess an administrative penalty for any violation by a regulated company of a statute, rule, the company’s own tariff or an order of the commission.]  [13:  RCW 81.04.380 allows the commission to assess a penalty of up to $1,000 for each violation after hearing.] 


In this case, staff recommends the commission issue a formal complaint and assess penalties of $100 for each of the nine categories of repeat violations documented in this report; $100 for each of the 62 violations of RCW 81.80.132; $100 for one violation of WAC 480-15-710; and $100 for one violation of WAC 480-15-490(3) for a total penalty of $7,300. Staff also requests the commission order Starving Students to refund overcharges to affected customers totaling $11,289.68. Each of these recommendations is based on the factors discussed below.

1. How serious or harmful the violation is to the public.

Staff believes the violations cited in this report caused serious harm to consumers. Failing to provide written estimates to consumers prior to a move precludes them from making an informed decision. Additionally, Starving Students failed to properly fill out the estimates and bills of lading as required by Tariff 15-C.  Starving Students also failed to issue supplemental estimates when the actual charges incurred were more than the commission-allowed percentages of the estimated costs. This resulted in significant overcharges to customers. The company also failed to maintain the proper weight slip documentation for long distance moves, which prevented staff from determining if the proper rates were charged for those moves. Finally, Starving Students failed to document the breaks its employees took while performing moves. This also resulted in overcharges to customers. 


2. Whether the violation is intentional.

Staff believes the evidence supports a finding that the violations were intentional in light of several factors. First, Starving Students has received extensive technical assistance for the violations for which staff is seeking a penalty. Second, the overcharges assessed to customers regarding binding selections and hours worked represent deliberate disregard of common industry regulations. Finally, the volume of violations discovered during the review period suggests that compliance with commission and tariff regulations is not a priority for Starving Students. 

3. Whether the company self-reported the violations.

The company did not self-report any of the violations cited in this report.

4. Whether the company was cooperative and responsive.

Starving Students was responsive and cooperative throughout this investigation.

5. Whether the company promptly corrected the violations and remedied the impacts.

Starving Students has not corrected any of the violations cited in this report, including many that were the subject of past technical assistance.

6. The number of violations and the number of customers affected.

In this investigation, there were 873 documented violations, affecting 289 customers. This represents approximately 44 percent of all moves reviewed.

7. The likelihood of recurrence.

The likelihood that these violations will recur is significant. Despite receiving technical assistance on these same issues as a result of consumer complaints and the commission’s household goods training, staff alleges that the company continues to willfully violate commission laws and rules.

8. The company’s past performance regarding compliance, violations and penalties. 

In 2009, Transportation Safety staff conducted a compliance review of Starving Students.  During the review, staff found that the company had been using a driver whose license was suspended.  This violated WAC 480-15-570, which adopts by reference 49 CFR Part 391.11(b)(5), for using a driver without a currently valid motor vehicle operator’s license or permit. According to the company’s records, this driver drove for a total of 16 days during September 2009.  This constituted 16 violations. 

Staff recommended, and the commission assessed, $1,600 penalty for 16 violations of commission-enforced rules, in Docket TV-091592, on October 9, 2009. Starving Students did not respond to the penalty assessment or pay the penalty within the required 15 day period. On November 5, 2009, the Commission sent a delinquency letter to Starving Students requesting immediate payment. On November 12, 2009, the ommission received full payment from Starving Students for the $1,600 penalty.

On December 7, 2012, in Docket TV-121927, the commission suspended the company’s household goods permit for failure to file acceptable proof of liability and property damage insurance. The commission received proof of insurance from Starving Students on December 14, 2012, and the suspension was subsequently lifted.

On May 3, 2013, Starving Students filed its 2012 annual report and paid its 2013 regulatory fee. That date was two business days from May 1, when penalties began to accrue, resulting in a potential penalty assessment of $200. Starving Students had not previously missed the deadline for filing its annual report and paying its regulatory fees.  The commission, therefore, exercised its discretion to mitigate the penalty to $25 per day, resulting in a total penalty of $50.

As documented in this report, Starving Students has received technical assistance in seven consumer complaints in the last two years

9. The company’s existing compliance program.
 
The company presented no evidence of a compliance program.

10. The size of the company.

Starving Students reported gross intrastate operating revenue of $1,003,296 in 2011, and $1,141,276 in 2012.

















Recommendation
1. Staff recommends a total penalty of $7,300 for the following violations:
· $100 for each category of violations of WAC 480-15-630 and Tariff 15-C, Item 85, failure to properly complete written estimates, for a total penalty of $400.
· $100 for each category of violations of WAC 480-15-710 and Tariff 15-C, Item 95, failure to properly complete bills of lading , for a total penalty of $500. 
· $100 for each violation of RCW 81.80.132, charging in excess of commission-allowed percentages, for a total penalty of $6,200.
· $100 for each category of violations of WAC 480-15-710, Tariff 15-C, Item 115(5), and Item 95(1)(L)(ii), failure to maintain weight tickets and accurately document long distance moves, for a total penalty of $100. 
· $100 for the category of violations of WAC 480-15-490(3) and Tariff 15-C, Item 230(2), for failure to document breaks and interruptions of employees, for a total penalty of $100. 

2. Additionally, staff recommends a total refund of $11,289.68 to affected customers for the following violations:
· A refund of $2,953.27 for excess charges to customers issued binding estimates in violation of RCW 81.80.132.
· A refund of $5,319.95 for excess charges to customers issued nonbinding estimates in violation of RCW 81.80.132.
· A refund of $3,016.46 for excess charges to customers for break or interruption hours they were charged for in violation of WAC 480-15-490 and Tariff 15-C, Item 230(2).
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APPENDIX C

Binding Customers
	#
	Invoice
	Customer
	Estimate
	Charged
	Refund

	1
	4813335
	Albert Tally
	$449.94
	$498.00
	$48.06

	2
	4811948
	Steven Shadwick
	$239.97
	$319.96
	$79.99

	3
	4807584
	Francisco Delgado
	$319.96
	$479.94
	$159.98

	4
	4817385
	Aaron Rankin
	$159.98
	$259.97
	$99.99

	5
	4815786
	John Harris
	$509.94
	$603.42
	$93.48

	6
	4820223
	Matt Marcus
	$599.94
	$742.92
	$142.98

	7
	4821306
	Susan Hope
	$599.94
	$674.93
	$74.99

	8
	4822507
	Julie Sniadoski
	$179.98
	$224.97
	$44.99

	9
	4825304
	Carrie Avlonitis
	$664.93
	$712.42
	$47.49

	10
	4827187
	Brad Longaker
	$239.97
	$399.95
	$159.98

	11
	4828646
	Patty Minnihan
	$949.90
	$1,282.36
	$332.46

	12
	4830132
	Randle Tiffany
	$159.96
	$292.46
	$132.50

	13
	4820765
	Ben Wells
	$839.88
	$944.86
	$104.98

	14
	4823441
	Jessica Lacey
	$359.96
	$472.45
	$112.49

	15
	4829362
	Kay Clarke-Willson
	$89.99
	$134.98
	$44.99

	16
	4829222
	Keri Trent
	$219.96
	$259.96
	$40.00

	17
	4832765
	Robert Olsen
	$399.96
	$499.95
	$100.01

	18
	4830572
	Tami Selby
	$435.96
	$653.94
	$217.98

	19
	4809678
	Doug Wilson
	$297.97
	$349.99
	$52.02

	20
	4808030
	Michelle Anderson
	$359.96
	$674.93
	$314.97

	21
	4808191
	Krystal Reece
	$339.96
	$382.46
	$42.50

	22
	4820168
	Jeanna Stone
	$179.98
	$202.48
	$22.50

	23
	4817720
	Doris Mathews
	$879.84
	$1,138.81
	$258.97

	24
	4818666
	Valerie Mosser
	$359.96
	$584.93
	$224.97

	Total Binding Overcharges
	$2,953.27

















APPENDIX D
Non-Binding Customers
	#
	Invoice
	Customer
	Estimate
	Charged
	125%
	Refund

	1
	4803908
	Edwards Jones
	$399.95
	$519.93
	$499.93
	$20.00

	2
	4803739
	Avery Watkins
	$474.95
	$1,163.62
	$593.69
	$569.93

	3
	4811022
	Hilda Sobolewski
	$639.92
	$819.89
	$799.90
	$19.99

	4
	4815766
	Beka Teklu
	$359.96
	$539.94
	$449.95
	$89.99

	5
	4817692
	Cecilia Kennedy
	$449.95
	$629.93
	$562.44
	$67.49

	6
	4813316
	Carol Padgett
	$860.10
	$1,668.59
	$1,075.13
	$593.47

	7
	4827908
	Toru Garofalo
	$399.95
	$519.93
	$499.94
	$19.99

	8
	4827176
	Lee Neater
	$179.98
	$319.96
	$224.98
	$94.99

	9
	4827882
	Alexandra Marler
	$359.96
	$517.44
	$449.95
	$67.49

	10
	4828519
	Jesse Jempson
	$524.95
	$944.91
	$656.19
	$288.72

	11
	4829107
	Tizah Monson
	$159.99
	$239.97
	$199.99
	$39.98

	12
	4826934
	James Delacore
	$449.95
	$787.41
	$562.44
	$224.97

	13
	4828647
	Patty Minnihan
	$949.90
	$1,282.36
	$1,187.38
	$94.98

	14
	4829576
	Congrega Oberlin
	$179.98
	$247.47
	$224.98
	$22.50

	15
	4821232
	Debbie Bronson
	$499.95
	$674.93
	$624.94
	$49.99

	16
	4826001
	Brian Dore
	$539.98
	$960.00
	$674.98
	$285.03

	17
	4829156
	Barbara Gibson
	$539.94
	$832.40
	$674.93
	$157.48

	18
	4806582
	Lexi Hartman
	$399.95
	$639.99
	$499.94
	$140.05

	19
	4802893
	Susan Scherer
	$239.97
	$319.96
	$299.96
	$20.00

	20
	4803715
	Thiago Hirai
	$479.94
	$639.92
	$599.93
	$40.00

	21
	4811603
	Carkia Cobb
	$319.96
	$519.94
	$399.95
	$119.99

	22
	4808996
	Mary Scott
	$399.95
	$639.92
	$499.94
	$139.98

	23
	4806196
	Melanie Weber
	$239.97
	$319.96
	$299.96
	$20.00

	24
	4810744
	Mala Kandiar
	$169.98
	$254.97
	$212.48
	$42.50

	25
	4818440
	Chamu Kallem
	$108.99
	$163.48
	$136.24
	$27.24

	26
	4816317
	Hannah Trulock
	$599.94
	$799.92
	$749.93
	$49.99

	27
	4827136
	Konni Boll
	$779.88
	$1,039.84
	$974.85
	$64.99

	28
	4826429
	Urban Land Institute
	$179.98
	$314.97
	$224.98
	$90.00

	29
	4821500
	Nancy Burke
	$599.94
	$914.91
	$749.93
	$164.99

	30
	4822961
	Robert Frederick
	$319.96
	$619.91
	$399.95
	$219.96

	31
	4818088
	Kitty Willers
	$179.99
	$269.97
	$224.99
	$44.98

	32
	4831451
	Jennifer Quinlin
	$759.92
	$1,139.88
	$949.90
	$189.98

	33
	4824370
	Kelsey Fava
	$734.93
	$949.91
	$918.66
	$31.25

	34
	4798553
	Tim Fang*
	$150.00
	$269.97
	$187.50
	$82.47

	35
	4806272
	Ro Rippon*
	$250.00
	$517.44
	$312.50
	$204.94

	36
	4811366
	Scott Beasley*
	$860.00
	$1,416.00
	$1,075.00
	$341.00

	37
	4823753
	Kim Fredrick*
	$419.96
	$603.70
	$524.95
	$78.75

	38
	4825965
	Kenna Klosterman*
	$239.96
	$799.85
	$299.95
	$499.90

	Total Non-Binding Overcharges
	$5,319.95


* Denotes customers who did not select a binding option on either their estimate or bill of lading. 
   If no option was selected, the default option applied was non-binding. 
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APPENDIX H
Hours Worked Without Break / Interruption
	#
	Invoice
	Name
	Hours Worked
	Over
Charged
	Rate
	Refund

	1
	4805078
	Linda Nellans
	8
	0.5
	$79.99
	$40.00

	2
	4795396
	Bryan Lichau
	6.75
	0.5
	$84.99
	$42.50

	3
	4804400
	Marisa Rodriguez
	8
	0.5
	$94.99
	$47.50

	4
	4804508
	Mary McGuire
	6.5
	0.5
	$99.99
	$50.00

	5
	4805094
	Ellie Simonyan
	6.5
	0.5
	$84.99
	$42.50

	6
	4801008
	Zoey Diaz
	6.75
	0.5
	$99.99
	$50.00

	7
	4803739
	Avery Watkins
	12.25
	0.5
	$94.99
	$47.50

	8
	4808300
	Rafel Hart
	13.25
	1
	$89.95
	$89.95

	9
	4797714
	Karla Western
	16.5
	1.5
	$99.94
	$149.91

	10
	4811421
	Karla Western
	7.5
	0.5
	$69.99
	$35.00

	11
	4806565
	Terry Smith
	10.75
	0.5
	$124.94
	$62.47

	12
	4808180
	Julie Barber
	7
	0.5
	$84.99
	$42.50

	13
	4799310
	Diana Manton
	8
	0.5
	$79.99
	$40.00

	14
	4810932
	Greg Armstrong
	6
	0.5
	$79.99
	$40.00

	15
	4808960
	Bob Payne
	6.5
	0.5
	$79.99
	$40.00

	16
	4808997
	Colleen Allison
	6.25
	0.5
	$89.99
	$45.00

	17
	4807155
	Matan Lehrer
	7.25
	0.5
	$119.98
	$59.99

	18
	4807584
	Francisco Delgado
	6
	0.5
	$79.99
	$40.00

	19
	4814856
	Paul Rusyn
	8.25
	0.5
	$114.94
	$57.47

	20
	4814578
	Robert Dopson
	6.5
	0.5
	$89.99
	$45.00

	21
	4815950
	Luke Wilson
	9
	0.5
	$79.99
	$40.00

	22
	4817467
	Paul Bunn
	8.25
	0.5
	$114.94
	$57.47

	23
	4818923
	James Reid
	7
	0.5
	$84.99
	$42.50

	24
	4822201
	Christine Eissmann
	6.5
	0.5
	$99.99
	$50.00

	25
	4821215
	Galindo Marcea
	7.5
	0.5
	$79.99
	$40.00

	26
	4823159
	Sue Gonzalez
	9
	0.25
	$99.99
	$25.00

	27
	4824890
	Carol House
	7.25
	0.5
	$108.99
	$54.50

	28
	4820636
	Jim Byrd
	6.75
	0.5
	$94.99
	$47.50

	29
	4828519
	Jesse Jempson
	9
	0.5
	$104.99
	$52.50

	30
	4826934
	James Delacore
	8.75
	0.5
	$89.99
	$45.00

	31
	4821232
	Debbie Bronson
	6.75
	0.5
	$99.99
	$50.00

	32
	4806582
	Lexi Hartman
	8
	0.5
	$79.99
	$40.00

	33
	4806272
	Ro Rippon
	5.75
	0.5
	$89.99
	$45.00

	34
	4805218
	Julia Kay
	8
	0.5
	$79.99
	$40.00

	35
	4803715
	Thiago Hirai
	8
	0.5
	$79.99
	$40.00

	36
	4809001
	Seiko Absher
	9.25
	0.5
	$79.99
	$40.00

	37
	4809319
	Barbara foley
	6
	0.5
	$79.99
	$40.00

	38
	4809178
	Steve Yu
	8
	0.5
	$114.98
	$57.49

	39
	4807953
	Sermin Noker
	10
	0.5
	$74.99
	$37.50

	40
	4810231
	Sean Becker
	7
	0.5
	$89.99
	$45.00

	41
	4811198
	David Jessup
	8
	0.5
	$79.99
	$40.00

	42
	4811202
	David Jessup
	8
	0.5
	$79.99
	$40.00

	43
	4808996
	Mary Scott
	8.25
	0.5
	$79.99
	$40.00

	44
	4817421
	Tonya Kammer
	8
	0.5
	$139.99
	$70.00

	45
	4816411
	Jennifer Wierling
	7.5
	0.5
	$94.99
	$47.50

	46
	4808856
	Lora Abernathy
	6.5
	0.5
	$119.98
	$59.99

	47
	4816317
	Hannah Trulock
	8
	0.5
	$99.99
	$50.00

	48
	4821186
	Savanna Thompson
	6.5
	0.5
	$74.99
	$37.50

	49
	4820857
	Moises Leon
	6
	0.5
	$104.99
	$52.50

	50
	4827138
	Konni Boll
	7
	0.5
	$129.98
	$64.99

	51
	4827136
	Konni Boll
	8
	0.25
	$129.98
	$32.50

	52
	4820170
	Konni Boll
	12.5
	1
	$84.99
	$84.99

	53
	4821500
	Nancy Burke
	9.15
	0.5
	$99.99
	$50.00

	54
	4822961
	Robert Frederick
	9
	0.5
	$79.99
	$40.00

	55
	4826973
	Robert Frederick
	7.5
	0.5
	$79.99
	$40.00

	56
	4819864
	Molly Ray
	9
	0.5
	$119.98
	$59.99

	57
	4827529
	Jennifer Palmer
	9
	0.5
	$84.99
	$42.50

	58
	4825965
	Kenna Klosterman
	7.5
	0.5
	$124.98
	$62.49

	59
	4828620
	Sharon Mooney
	8
	0.5
	$94.99
	$47.50

	60
	4824370
	Kelsey Fava
	9
	0.5
	$104.99
	$52.50

	61
	4828753
	Tho Nguyen
	6
	0.5
	$89.99
	$45.00

	Total Hours
	32
	Total Refund
	$3,016.46
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